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INTRODUCTION

The New York City Economic Development Corporation (EDC) has proposed the
reconstruction of Greenwich Street between Hubert and Chambers Streets in
Lower Manhattan. (See Fig. 1) The roadway would be narrowed, and the
western sidewalk would be correspondingly widened. In addition, resurfacing
and landscaping will be performed. Activities which will cause subsurface
disturbance include the replacement of a water main between Chambers and
North Moore Streets, sewer and catch basin replacement, hydrant replacement
and the removal of some of the subsurface remains of the Greenwich Street
trolley line.

Preliminary Archaeological Assessment

In order to determine the potential effects of the proposed street reconstruction
project on any extant archaeological resources located in the impact area, a
documentary study: “Greenwich Street- Reconstruction: Preliminary
Archaeological Assessment” was prepared by Historical Perspectives, Inc.
(Historical Perspectives 1898). This report addressed the concerns of the New
York City Landmarks Preservation Commission {LPC) that there is “the potential
for the recovery of remains from 18th and 19th Century occupation on the project
site” (LPC 3/10/98).

The preliminary assessment report concluded that the vast majority of the project
corridor roadbed “lacks archaeological potential in most resource types due to a
combination of extensive disturbance and lack of initial deposition since it has
historically been used almost exclusively as a transportation artery.” (Historical
Perspectives 1998.5).

According to the proposed construction plans, as explained by an engineer of
the RBA group, only two sections of the sidewalk will be impacted by more than
a few inches below the existing surface. Of these two areas, only the sidewalk
area between Chambers and Reade Streets, on the east side of Greenwich
Street, was considered to have archaeological potential as well as little or no
subsurface disturbance subsequent to deposition, i.e., disturbance which might
have adversely impacted the integrity of potential archaeological resources.

Phase 1A Study

A Phase 1A study of the sidewalk area between Chambers and Reade Streets
was recommended, with particular emphasis on the potential for 18th-century
defense system remains, as well as the possibility of other types of land use
during the 18th and 19th centuries (Historical Perspectives 1998:6).



Therefore, the Phase 1A study has been conducted to address LPC'’s original
concerns that there is potential for the recovery of archaeological remains from
the 18th- and 19th-century site occupations. However, the project site is now
much reduced in area from the original, and consists only of the sidewalk on the
eastern side of Greenwich Street, between Chambers and Reade Streets, an
area approximately 15 feet wide, and 193 feet long. In this area, henceforth
known as the project site, Greenwich Street reconstruction will entail the laying
of a water main beneath the current sidewalk, eight feet east of the Greenwich
Street roadbed. Installation will require the excavation of a trench approximately
3 feet wide and 3 feet deep from the Chambers Street roadbed to the Reade
Street Roadbed. (See Fig. 2)

The project site, in the section of Manhattan now known as Tribeca, lies on the
east side of the Greenwich Street roadbed, and is bounded on the east by Lots
15 and 18 of Block 140,. The northern and southern boundaries are the Reade
and Chambers Street roadbeds, respectively.

This report is based on documentary, cartographic and iconographic research
carried out at the New York Public Library, the New-York Historical Society, the
Municipal Archives, the Municipal Reference Library and the Department of
Buildings. A site visit was made and a brief informant interview was carried out
with the building manger of 303 Greenwich Street (7/10/98).



'ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING

Before the filling in of the Hudson River shore and the residential/commercial
development of the project site vicinity beginning at the end of the 18th century, the
subject parcel was part of a large elevated area which overlooked the Hudson, and
the city o the south. The 1767 Ratzer map clearly shows a long ridge which formed
the original shore of the river (and formed a natural roadbed for part Greenwich
Street), extending southward below Vesey Street (about 1,700 feet south of the
project site) and northward beyond Harrison Street (about 1,000 feet north of the
project site). (See Fig. 8) '

An examination of 18th-century maps, as well as Viele's “Topographical Atlas™ (Viele
1874), which depict pre-development topography, show that the Hudson's high
water mark was formerly on the west side of Greenwich Street, only 180 feet west of
the project site. The high ground sloped downward northeast of Reade Street,
where it bordered an arm of the Cripplebush Swamp, an extensive marshy tract
which began north of current Duane Street, only 300 feet northeast of the project
site, and drained into the Hudson further north. (See Figs. 8, 9 and 13)

Samuel Holland's plan for future fortifications in the area, carefully depicts the
commanding view that the project site and its vicinity had over the lowlands to the
north and over the river fo the west. (See Fig. 5) However, to suggest that the
project area was a flat, plateau-like region, would be incorrect. The ¢.1763
“Howdell-Canot View,” which depicts the project area from the north, clearly shows
that the area was not an elevated area of even terrain, but was a collection of
numerous smaller hills and ridges, with somewhat depressed areas in between.
(See Fig. 6) Some sense of this is provided by the “scalloped” edge of the hills that
Holland, Viele and others draw along and north of Reade Street. Unfortunately,
most maps fend to show this detail only beyond Reade Street. (See Figs. 5, 9 and
13)

New York's urban developers generally took little note of existing topographical
features, truncating hills and filling in marshes and valleys to create a generally
uniform, level area for the laying out of a street grid and the construction of
buildings. An observation from 1828 refers to the drained Cripplebush Swamp as
the “fresh water pond,” and reports that "several large hills or mounds of earth that
environed the pond . . . have all been leveled, and the ground thrown into the
ponds" (Stokes 1926:1671 1828). However, not only are these episodes of
truncation and filling imprecisely located, but by 1828, the project site and its
surrounding blocks had already been laid out and urbanized for over three decades.
At the end of the 18th century, references appear regarding the “filling up” and
“raising” of sections of Greenwich Street (Stokes 1926:1382), as well as orders to
“dig out” Chambers and Reade Streets (Stokes 1926:1288), but unfortunately, the
nature and location of this work is unclear.



Current street cormer elevations provided by the current Sanbom atias show
evidence of the pre-development contours in the project area, and indicate that
some' of the natural contours were smoothed and extreme elevations eliminated.
Elevations along Greenwich Street decline very gradually to the north and south
from 12.2 feet (above sea level) at Chambers Street to 11.8 feet at Reade and
Duane Streets and 11.11 feet at Warren Street. As expected, elevations decline
more precipitously toward the Hudson, dropping to 4 feet along the made land of
present West Street. To the northeast, elevations increase to between 18 and 22
feet, although Chambers Street is still elevated (now two to three feet) above Reade
and Warren. Not coincidentally, Viele depicts a small hill on Chambers, east of
West Broadway. (See Fig. 13) Also, the elevation drop from 18.10 on Reade and
Hudson Streets to 14.10 feet at Hudson and Duane Streets, appears to be evidence
of the former marsh, now filled in (Sanborn 1998). (See Fig. 2).



PREHISTORIC PERIOD

As described in the preceding section, before urban development and filling
episodes along the river shore, the study site was in an area of high ground, with a
broad view of the nearby Cripplebush Swamp tfo the northeast, and the Hudson
River to the west. '

There are few recorded prehistoric archaeological sites in the vicinity of the project
site, possibly because they were destroyed during the area's early (1790s) urban
development. Archaeologist R. P. Bolton locates the closest native village, called
Werpoes, approximately 2,300 feet to the southeast, in the vicinity of City Hall
(Bolton 1934:133). Neither Grumet nor Parker record any archaeological sites or
native place names closer than Bolton's Werpoes (Grumet 1981:68; Parker
1920:626). _

Although prehistoric man preferred elevated sites near estuarine marsh systems, the
project site had a number of shortcomings. Most importantly, the Hudson River and
the Cripplebush Swamp are salty in these areas, and would not have served as a
source of fresh water. Also, the elevated ridge along the river, although it would
have provided an excellent lookout post, would have been exposed to prevailing
northwest winds, making the site unattractive for year-round occupation. In addition,
the study site was fairly isolated. The meadow/marshland and the Hudson River
would have effectively blocked overland travel to and from all directions except
south and east, which is probably why no recorded Indian trails enter this natural
"dead end" (Grumet 1981.68).

These deficiencies would preclude the use of the study parcel as a major or
permanent settlement site. However, exposure to winter winds and lack of fresh
water do not preclude use as a processing site for pfant and animal resources, or a
temporary hunting camp. During hot summers, exposure to winds would have been
considered an asset.

The study site once had the potential for having hosted buried cultural remains from
the prehistoric period. However, due to the usually shallow nature of such deposits,
three to four feet below the pre-development surface, they are usually extremely
vulnerable to the ravages of historical period construction.



HISTORICAL PERIOD

European fur traders and fishermen probably visited New York Harbor and the
lower reaches of the -Hudson River as early as the 1590s, although officially,
Henry Hudson and the crew of his ship, the Halve Maen, sailing under the Dutch
flag, are the first recorded European visitors to the western shore of Manhattan.

The first known land grant to European settlers which included the project site
occurred in 1636, when Governor-General Wouter van Twiller granted a farm of 62
acres to Swedish-born Roeloffe Jansen and his Dutch wife Annetie (Stokes
1928:146). The farm ran along the Hudson River shore roughly from present Canal
Street on the north to just below Chambers Street on the south. To the east and
north the roughly L-shaped farm was bordered by the Cripplebush Swamp, which
began just north of Reade Street and east of Greenwich Street, only about 300 feet
northeast of the study parce! (See Fig. 7, labelled “Harrison”).

After Roeloffe Jansen's death in 1637, Annetie married Everardus Bogardus, New
Amsterdam’s Dutch Reformed minister, or dominie, and the farm was called the
Dominie’s Bouwery. The Jansen/Bogardus fammhouse stood on the Hudson River
shore, west of the line of present Washington Street, between Jay and Harrison
Streets (about 850 feet north of the project site). This high point of land, extending
into the Hudson came to be known as Dominie's Hoek. There is no record of the
construction of any structures on or near the subject parcel during this period. After
Bogardus' death in 1647, and Annetie's death in 1663, her seven surviving children
deeded the land to the English governor, Francis Lovelace in 1671, and the fairm
remained under the control of the subsequent governors untit Lord Combury, leased
it to the recently founded (1697) Trinity Church in 1700, and Queen Anne made it an
official land grant in 1705. Thereafter, the property was known as the Queen's (later
King's) or Trinity Church Farm (Stokes 1928:146-147).

The Trinity Church Farm, including the project site, was far outside New York City
during the 17th and much of the 18th centuries. However, as the city expanded, and
its older sections became more crowded, with more larger buildings and fewer open
spaces, recreational areas in what was then the near countryside were developed.
The 1735 Buchnerd plan shows a number of gardens and country tavems in the
vicinity of the project site. On the west side of what was then the Road to Greenwich
[Village] (west of present Greenwich Street at about Murray Street, approximately
800 feet southwest of the project site) was “Shairman’s Meed House” More opulent
were the gardens or resorts, clustered in the vicinity of the project area: Spring
Garden, “John Eil. Gardin,” the “Winyerd” and “Bolding” [Bowling] Green. The
Bowling Green Garden,' established in 1733-34, at approximately Greenwich and
Warren Streets, and extended as far north as present Chambers Street (which did

' Not the same Bowling Green as the current park at the southem tip of Manhattan.
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not yet exist), possibly ébutting the project site on the south (Cohen and Augustyn
1997:60-61). (See Fig. 3)

Bowling Green Garden later known as Vauxhall Garden, after a fashionable resort in
London, faced the Hudson River and provided a park- or garden-like setting for
patrons to stroll, converse, drink, eat, listen to music, view various entertainments,
etc. (See Fig. 8) An advertisement of 1769, following a just-completed
refurbishment, announced twice-weekly concerts; a “long room,” suitable for helding
a ball or a dinner; the sale of tickets for an impending fireworks display with musical
accompaniment; as well as providing a list of available refreshments: coffee, tea, hot
rolls, cakes, wines and liquors (Singleton 1902:369-371). Contemporary maps
generally show a building or house (the “long hall’?) in the gardens, at different
locations. The Grim plan, seems to place it along the south side of what was to

‘become Chambers Street, possibly abutting the southern edge of the project site.

Subsequent maps which also depict Chambers Street show a structure on the south
side of the garden, along Warren Street. (See Fig. 8) Records confirm that the
house stood along the north side of Warren Street, within 60 feet of the project site
(Stokes 1922:829). it is possible that this was a later (post 1745), more permanent
structure. (See Fig. 6)

During a Stamp Act riot in 1765, Vauxhall was attacked by a mob which destroyed
the residence on the property, which had been leased for three years to the
unpopular Major James of the Royal Regiment of Artiliery. The rioters destroyed
everything in the building, down to the doors, the window frames and the summer -
houses in the garden, leaving behind a “mere shell.” Unfortunately for the Major, a
newspaper account reports that “he had obliged himself to retum it in the like good

order as he had received it “ (Ibid. 371-372).

18th-Century Fortifications

In contrast to the pleasurable pursuits normally sought in Vauxhall was the threat of
attack from the French and their Indian allies. New York City’s strategic position
near the center of England’s North American colonies, and its control of the mouth of
the Hudson River, made it a valuable prize, and from the time of King William's War
in 1689, until the French were finally defeated in the French and Indian War in 1763,
the grim specter of enemy attack hung over the city like a storm cloud.

As an elevated location overlooking the Hudson and the swamp to the north and city
to the south, the project site vicinity was strategically important. At the outbreak of
King George's War (1744-48), the Provincial Assembly in 1745 voted £8,000 to
build a line of palisades with blockhouses from the East River to the Hudson.
The line of palisades zigzagged across Manhattan, following the contours of the
high ground, and in the vicinity of the project area, the location of the wall
corresponded roughly to the line of Chambers Street.



Of the six maps that show the location of the palisade (Holland, two by Grim,
three by Maerschalck), the fortification either runs through the project site just
north of Chambers Street, or it runs through the future location of Chambers
Street itself. The two Grim maps tend to depict the more southerly location, and
since they were drawn from memory in" 1813, their accuracy is questionable
where they diverge from other maps. For example, the Grim plans are the only
maps to-show the palisade as a straight line. (See Fig. 3) The three versions of
the Maerschalck plan, based on the same 1754 survey, show the palisade
location within the project site (Cohen and Augustyn 1997:64-65; Maerschalck
1755).2 (See Fig. 4) Finally, and unfortunately, the Holland map (1757) shows
only the palisade, and cannot be related to the nascent street grid. (See Fig. 5)

Grim also provides a valuable description of the wall’s construction:

Those Palisades were made of cedar logs, about fourteen feet long
and nine or ten inches in diameter, were placed in a trench, dug in
the ground for that purpose, three feet deep, with loopholes in the
same, for musketry, and a breastwork four feet high and four feet in
width. In this line of Palisades were three Block-houses, about
thirty feet square and ten feet high, with six port holes for cannon.
These Block-houses were made with logs, of eighteen inches
diameter. They were placed thus: the one was in (now) Pearl
Street . . . the second in the rear of the Poor-house, and the other
between Church and Chapel Streets. There were four large gates,
or outlets to the city, the one at the head of Pearl Street, Chatham
Street, Broadway and Greenwich Street (Stokes 1922:270-271).

The Grim’s depiction of the Greenwich Street gate shows what appears to be the
framing or support for the gate - a pair of thicker terminals where the sections of
the palisade end. A more substantial anchorage would have been necessary
there, due not only to the movement of the gates themselves, but also because
the gates were the most vulnerable parts of the palisade. Grim drew these
thickened terminals on each side of Greenwich Street, extending slightly north
and south of the wall, the eastern side approximately on the project site location
(See Fig. Grim) Other maps depict a simple break in a thick line, with no
additional detail. (See Figs. Holl and Maersch)

Although only three blockhouses are specified in Grim's description, he, as well
as professional cartographers Samue! Holland (1757) and Francis Maerschalck
(1754), also show a structure on the west side of Greenwich Street, within the

2 The 1763 Maerschalck “Reduced” Plan, used as Fig. 4, erroneously shows “Elias Degrushe’s
Ropewalk” running across Greenwich Street. The rope walk is shown in its comrect location
{running from Church Street to Broadway) on larger, more detailed versions of the map (Cohen
and Augustyn 1997:65), and on Fig. 5 (not labelled).



g

gate. It probably served as a shelter for the guards who would have been
stationed by the gate. Holland and Maerschalck also designate this building as
a blockhouse. Traditionally, a blockhouse had two stories, and the upper story
projected over the first, with openings from which the defenders could shoot.
Grim describes “six port holes for cannon,” and his dimensions of “about thirty
feet square,” must have meant about thirty feet to a side. (See Fig. 6)

At the conclusion of King George's War, in 1748, the fear of attack lifted
somewhat, and the palisade was either permitted to deteriorate, or sections were
removed. As William Smith wrote in his 1757 History of the Province of New
York:

During the late War a Line of Palisadoes was run from Hudson’s
to the East River, at the other End of the City, with Block-houses at
small Distances. The Greater Part of these still remain as a
Monument of our Folly, which cost the Province about 8,000£
(Stokes 1922:279).

The palisades and blockhouses “along the line of Chambers Street” were still

standing in 1761, when they are mentioned in a mortgage (Stokes 1922:718).

By 1767, the detailed Ratzer plan shows no sign of palisade, gate or.
biockhouses in the project area. The present routes of Greenwich, Chambers

and Reade Streets were established by the time of this map, and the Vauxhall

Gardens continued to operate on the block south of Chambers Street. (See Fig.

8)

Greenwich Street, originally the Road to Greenwich [Village], was the earliest of
the project site streets to be completed. An ordinance passed by the Common
Council in 1729, stipulated that it be laid out at the high water mark, with the
future Washington Street to the west at the low water mark (Gerard 1872:218).
The high water mark is still visible as a wavy dotted line on current real estate
maps, and lies about 180 feet west of the project site. The elevated ridge very
near the Hudson shore, visible on a number of early maps (See e.g. Fig. 3)
provided a natural roadbed for Greenwich Street, which in the vicinity of the
project area began only four blocks to the south (about 1,400 feet) at current
Barclay Street (from whence it went to Broadway), and meandered northward
following the existing topography.

During the 1760s and 1770s Greenwich Street was straightened, more closely
approximating its current path. Maerschalck in 1763 eliminated the road entirely,
while Montresor, in his survey of 1766 drew a fairly straight road north of Warren
Street. By 1767, the Ratzer map sharply defined the east side of Greenwich
Street (which would inciude the project site), while the indistinct western edge
blends into the ridge along the shoreline. (See Fig. 8) and by the time of the
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Holland Map of 1776, Greenwich Street in the project area looked like its modern
incarnation (Cohen and Augustyn 1997:83). (Compare Figs. 4, 7 and 8)

Although according to the “Map of Street Openings and Closings,” Greenwich
Street was not officially regulated and opened until 1784, the street was already
widened to its present width of 66 feet in 1772, northward from the “corner of the
north side of Chambers Street” through the entire Trinity Church property, an
area which included the entire project site (Stokes 1922:829). The widening
probably began at Chambers Street because above Chambers there were no
structures to remove. (See Fig. 8) It is not clear what this street widening and
“regulating” entailed.

Chambers and Reade Streets were not released to the City of New York by
Trinity Church Corporation until 1761, and do not appear on paper until 1767
(See Fig. 8), and even then were paper streets, since the Holland Map of 1776
does not show them extending west of current Church Street (Cohen and
Augustyn 1997:83). Chambers Street was originally 40 feet wide, and although
the land leases granted since 1778 provided for a 65-foot-wide street, according
to a 1784 letter written by Anthony Van Dam (first Secretary of New York City's
Chamber of Commerce) in some places it was still necessary to remove
buildings which were in the roadbed. Van Dam proposed setting aside ten to
twelve feet on each side of the road for pedestrians, leaving the 40- to 45-foot
width for carts, the roadbed arched in the center (Stokes 1926:1,186). The
current Sanborn atlas shows Chambers Street at Greenwich Street to be 60 feet
wide.

L ess information is available on Reade Street, drawn in the current Sanborn as
65 feet wide. (See Fig. 2) It is likely that Reade was 40 feet wide like
neighboring Chambers Street. For both Chambers and Reade Streets, it is
unclear when the streets were widened, although this must have occurred before
¢.1850, when buildings were constructed occupying the entire street frontages of
the lots abutting the project area. The size of the lots has not been altered
since.

By the time of the Revolutionary War, New York City had grown sufficiently that
Chambers Street was no longer the front line of defense, and the entrenchments
and fortifications running across Manhattan Island from the Hudson to the East
River began farther north, at present Harrison Street. However, after the British
occupied the island, they continued the process of its fortification which the
Americans had begun in 1775-76. Although the British forces held the island
securely from 1776 to 1783, they prepared themselves for an American or
French attack. The city was particularly vuinerable during the winter of 1780,
when the Hudson froze, and an army could have easily marched across the river
(Augustyn and Cohen 1997:88). The project area, on high ground along the
Hudson, was once again considered strategic for the city's protection.
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An entrenchment, probably a combination of trenches and palisades, cut across
Greenwich Street, south of Chambers Street effectively shutting off traffic, and
the fortified line extended up the west side of Greenwich Street, ending at a five-
sided battery with six embrasures (open on the Greenwich Street side) at Duane
Street, between Greenwich and Washington Streets. (See Fig. 10, labelled “c")
Although many fortifications had been constructed by the American forces, the
Holland Plan of 1776, which postdates the British capture of Manhattan Island,
does not depict this entrenchment and battery. They appear only on the British
Head Quarters Map and the Hills Plan, both of 1782 (Ibid.:83). On the other
hand, the “References” printed on the British Head Quarters Map records that
the batteries marked “c” were “first thrown up by the Rebels, and afterwards
improved by the King’s -Troops,” and Hills appears to indicate that the
entrenchment was originally American work, although his system of
distinguishing between American and British fortifications may not reproduce as
well as the rest of his map. (See Fig. 9)

I. N. Phelps Stokes, in the maps from his Iconography of Manhattan Island,
draws the entrenchment running diagonally across current Greenwich Street,
and apparently running through the southern end of the project site (Stokes
1928:P1.64). The existing historical maps clearly show the entrenchment
confined to the west side of the street, between Chambers and Reade, and
although it is most probable that British troops camped or had shelters on the
adjacent property, the works themselves were not on the project site. (See Figs.
9 and 10) The entrenchment was removed sometime after the end of British
occupation, in 1783, and appear on no subsequent maps.

Late 18th- and 19th-Century Urban Development

Following the war, and with Greenwich, Chambers and Reade Streets opened,
Trinity Church Corporation divided the blocks in the project area into building
lots and began to sell off the parcels. Block 140, adjacent to the project site on
the east, was already built up by 1797 (Taylor Roberts 1797). Beginning with
189 or 167 Chambers Street (less than 100 feet to the east of the project site),
which was purchased by Agnes Stuart in 1828, the western end of the block,
which abuts the project site to the east, was gradually acquired by the Stuart
family, who established their sugar refinery there.

The appearance of the structures along the east side of Greenwich Street and
the project site, is not precisely known, because the earliest real estate tax
descriptions and detailed atias renderings do not appear before they were
removed for the Stuart sugar refinery by ¢1850. Real estate tax records
indicate that there were probably seven lots with approximately 25-foot frontages
on Greenwich and the project site sidewalk. The lots were probably occupied by
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six or seven small frame buildings, similar to those which appear in the 1809
watercolor showing the west side of Greenwich Street at the corner of Warren
Street. These residences, some containing shops, all have stoops extending out
onto the sidewalk, which might have been an important household activity area.
Another in the same series, showing Greenwich Street at Dey Street (about
2,000 feet south of the project site) in 1810, also shows similar buildings dating
from the late 1780s, with partially aboveground basements which could be
entered-through doors buiit into the sidewalk (Dunshee 1952:66). (See Fig. 11)

Kinloch Stuart, husband of Agnes Stuart, was a confectioner, and by 1821 city
directories list him as having a shop in what was probably a similar frame
building at the corner of Greenwich and Chambers Streets (Directory 1821).
Stuart’s heirs appear on this and the adjacent lots in directories through 1882.
By the time of the 1849 directory (Directory 1849 & ff.), the family had developed
into, or at least redefined themselves as “manufacturers of candy and sugar
refiners,” and subsequent directories would identify them as sugar refiners only.

Kinloch's sons, Alexander and Robent, ran their sugar refinery in buildings on the
western end of Block 140, i.e., Greenwich Street between Chambers and Reade
Streets (abutting the project site on the east) until Robert's death in 1882. The
first clear description of these structures comes from the Perris real estate maps
of the 1850s. By that time the lots adjacent to the project site were covered with
the Stuart's brick factory buildings — the northern half, Lot 18 (309-313
Greenwich Street), hosted a nine-story structure, and the southern half, Lot 15
(303-307 Greenwich Street), contained five-story buildings, all built right up to
the western lot line, abutting the Greenwich Street sidewalk (Perris 1855:3;
1862:8). (See Fig. 12) In these and simifar buildings, sugar makers and refiners
like the Stuarts would take imported molasses or treacle, syrup derived from raw
sugarcane, and continue the refining process to produce solid sugar of various
grades (Mintz 1985:22).

After Robert Stuart’s death, the structural configuration of the buiidings remained
the same., The nine-story structure on the northern half of Block 140 (Lot 18),
was converted into a warehouse, labelled in atlases as the Greenwich
Warehouse Co. in 1899 and 1908 (Bromley 1899; 1908), Heermances Storage
in 1917 and 1950 (Hyde 1917; 1950). In 1851 the building was razed, and a
parking lot with gas station replaced it. However, prior to this, the owner applied
for permission to remove the sidewalk surrounding the lot, part of which
corresponds to the northem half of the project site. This was necessary because
the then existing basement of the Lot 18 building extended beneath the sidewalk
from Lot 18 to two feet beyond the curb into the current roadbed along the lot's
frontage with Greenwich and Reade Streets. The entire vault, which extended at
least eight feet below the current sidewalk surface, was “to be filled with clean,
wetted, well-tamped earth to sidewalk level” (Bromiey 1959; Block 140 Lot 18,
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Demolition Permit 71-1951). An apartment building was built on Lot 18 in 1989
(Willensky and White 1988:51).

The southern half of the property, Lot 15, was purchased by John S. Martin, who
leased the five-story building to Charles K. Sherwood, a dealer in pickles, during
the first decade of the 20th century (Hyde 1907; Directory 1909-1811). The
property went through various owners, and its usage is unclear, up to its
demolition in 1962, when it was replaced by a parking lot. No sidewalk vault was
noted in the building records (Block 140 Lot 15, Demolition 430-1962; 400-

1862).

An eleven-story apartment building reptaced the parking lot on Lot 15 in 1987.
Although the structure has-a basement, a site visit (7/10/98), as well as a short
interview with the building manager of 303 Greenwich Street, determined that
the basement of the current building does not extend beyond the lot line, and
that at present there is no sidewalk vault beneath the project site section

adjacent to Lot 15 (Willensky and White 1988:51).
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CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Prehistoric Occupation

Although the project site did not present an optimal setting for prehistoric human
occupation, the elevated position and nearby marshland may have proven attractive
for the establishment of temporary camps and processing sites. However,
prehistoric cultural deposits are normally shallowly buried, usually within three feet
of the pre-development surface. As a result they would have been extremely
vulnerable to a variety of well-documented disturbances from the construction of the
various fortifications and entrenchments, and to negative impacts from subsequent
residential and commercial construction and deposition.

Therefore, NO FURTHER RESEARCH OR INVESTIGATION regarding prehistoric
archaeological resources is recommended.

Historical Occupation

Documentary research has identified three separate occupation episodes during the
historical period for which the project site may be potentially sensitive. These have
been discussed in more detail in the previous section:

Palisades and City Gate 1745 to ¢.1765

The palisaded wall and the Greenwich Street gate were built in 1745 for defense
against French and Indian attack, and existed until approximately 1765. According
to early maps, this fortification cut across present Greenwich Street near Chambers
Street, and consisted of ten-inch logs buried three feet deep. Artifacts for
construction and repair, such as tools and nails, as well as other contemporary
refuse would be expected in the postholes, and since the gate and the adjacent
blockhouse (on the west side of Greenwich Street) would probably have been
continuously-manned while fear of attack existed, surface midden scatter may have
built up during the early portion of the approximately 20 years of the gates existence.
Not only military artifacts would be expected, but also buttons, buckle fragments,
gaming pieces, cooking vessels and faunal remains might be present.

Revolutionary War Entrenchment ¢.1776 to ¢.1783

Although the American-built and British-improved entrenchment and fortification line
was constructed along the Hudson River shore on the opposite side of Greenwich
Street (about 50 feet west of the project site), it is likely that the soldiers who
ranned the entrenchment and nearby battery would have constructed structures for
shelter and storage adjacent to their positions. The soldiers in the nearby
entrenchment would also have left surface midden scatter in the vicinity.
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As with the palisade and gate described above, a wide range of artifacts would be
expected, from weapons, weapons fittings, ammunition to personal items, such as
buttons, belt and shoe buckles; items for food preparation and storage — cooking
vessels, glass containers, faunal remains; and artifacts for amusement, such as
gaming pieces and marbles.

Domestic/Commercial Remains ¢.1797 to ¢.1850

Until the construction of the Stuart Sugar refinery in ¢. 1850, there were seven lots
with six or seven small buildings on Greenwich Street, abutting the project site
sidewalk. As was typical before 1850, some of these buildings would have been
strictly residences, while others, particularly at the corners, would have been
used both as homes and shops. Kinioch Stuart had a shop here at the corner of
Chambers and Greenwich by 1821.

Although no views have been found of the project site and adjacent buildings
from this period, two watercolors showing the streetscape east side of
Greenwich Street, on nearby blocks, show not only stoops built out beyond the
property lines, but also basement entrances dug into the sidewalk. Builders
trenches from these constructions may still exist in the project site, as well as
domestic and commercial artifacts deposited in them at the time of construction,
and prior to their demolition or filling.

Disturbance

As described at the end of the previous section, the major, recorded, subsurface
disturbance to the projeci site was the construction of the sidewalk vault beneath
the project site pavement adjacent to Lot 18. The excavation for this basement,
to a depth of eight feet or more below the current surface, would have destroyed
any archaeological deposits which might have survived in the northern 99 feet of
the project site, from the northern lot line of Lot 15 to the Reade Street roadbed.

The remaining southern “half* (94 feet) of the project site, although unaffected
by the construction of this sidewalk vault, probably experienced some regrading
at the end of the 18th century. This may have impacted the buried remains from
the 18th-century fortifications on and near the project site, but the extent of this
disturbance remains unclear. Domestic/commercial remains from the adjacent
houses, extant for the first half of the 19th century, postdated this regrading, and
would have been unaffected by it. However, each subsequent land use with
which we are concerned may have adversely impacted the archaeological
evidence of the previous occupation. Finally, it should be noted that although
though there are municipal utilities, namely a fire hydrant, at the curb in the
southern section of the project site (See Fig. 2) the area of construction impact
for the proposed project is seven feet to the east of the curb.
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The record of post-depositional disturbance is neither extensive nor complete
enough to remove the southern part of the project site from further
archaeological consideration. Therefore, the project site must be considered
potentially sensitive for archaeological deposits relating to the ¢.1745-1765
palisades and gate, the ¢.1776-1783 entrenchments, and domestic/commercial
remains from the adjacent buildings for the period c.1797-1850.

oy M}_gf?
Recommendations e W W’k

The area of potential archaeological sensitivity j:‘qu% small — approximately 15
feet by 94 feet — and the area of the-three-foot-deep’trench necessary for the
proposed water main installation is even smaller — 3 feet by 94 feet. Potential
archaeological deposits would probably lie within four feet of the surface. If
agreed to by the review agency, a construction-monitoring plan — with authority
to halt machinery for salvage/documention purposes temporarily vested in the
archaeological supervisor = would be an appropriate work effort on a such a
constricted site. When construction plans are finalized, a specific monitoring
protocol for archaeological resources would be developed and submitted for
approval by the review agency.
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Figure 2. REDI-Sanbom, Real Estate Maps of New York, 1989

| — Shaded area shows project site location




52. City Gates 59. Bowling Green

Figure 3. Grim, A Plan of the City and Environs of New York as They Were in the
Years 1742_1743 and 1744
(Arrow shows project site location)
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Figure 4. Maerschalck, A Plan of the City of New York, Reduced from an actual



Figure 5. Holland, A Plan of the Northeast Environs of the City of New-York, 1757
(Arrow shows project site location)
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Figure 6. Howdell/Canot, South East View of the City of New York, ¢1763
published in 1768, from Kouwenhoven (1953:67).
View drawn from vicinity of current Hudson and Vestry Streets

Note: 1745 palisades with blockhouse and gate indicated by arrow. Large building
to the left of blockhouse probably Vauxhall. '
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Figure 7. Montresor, A Plan of the City of New-York & its Environs,
Surveyed in 1766.
(Arrow shows project site location)
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Figure 8. Ratzer, Plan of the City of New York ("Ratzen" Pian), Surveyed in 1766
and 1767
(Arrow shows project site location)
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(Arrow shows project site location)

Figure 9. Hills, Plan of the City of New-York and its Environs, Surveyed in 1782.
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Figure 10. British Head Quarters Map. Reproduction of 1782 original, by B. F.

Stevens
(Arrow shows project site location)




Figure 11. A Pair of Watercolors by Baroness Hyde de Neuville
(TOP) Warren and Greenwich Streets, 1809 (in Lockwood 1976:41)
(BOTTOM) Greenwich and Dey Streets, 1810 (in Dunshee 1952:66)



Figure 12. Perris, Maps of the City of New-York, 1857
(Volume 1, Plate 8)

| — Shaded area shows project site location




Figure 13. Viele, Topographical Atlas of the City of New York, 1874
(Arrow shows project site location)
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Figure 14. Map Showing Area of Potential Archaeological Sensitivity
(Base map: 1989 Sanborn. Scale: 1 inch = 40 feet)

— Shading indicates area of potential archaeological sensitivity



